
 
 
 

St. Stephen Town Council
AGENDA

 
Wednesday, January 26, 2022, 5:00 p.m.

Moosehead Room at the Garcelon Civic Center

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION WILL BE AVAILABLE VIA A LIVE FEED ON THE TOWN OF ST.
STEPHEN’S FACEBOOK PAGE.

Pages

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. MOMENT OF REFLECTION

C. ADDITION OF LATE ITEMS

D. ADOPTION OF AGENDA
Proposed Resolution:
THAT the Agenda for the Regular Council Meeting of January 26, 2022, be
approved.

E. MAYOR'S COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS

F. DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

G. PUBLIC AND/OR STATUTORY HEARINGS

1. Canada 1st Basketball Project Update 7

H. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

1. Regular Council Meeting 8
Proposed Resolution:
THAT the Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting held on December 29,
2021, be approved as presented. 

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

J. CORRESPONDENCE
Proposed Resolution:
THAT the following item be received for information.

1. Heritage Preservation Letter - Darren McCabe 14

K. BYLAWS, PERMITS, AND POLICIES

L. NEW BUSINESS



1. Departmental Reports
Proposed Resolution:
THAT the Departmental Information Reports be acknowledged and
received.

a. CAO Report

a. CAO 01-22 18

b. Planning Report

a. Planning & Development Report 19

c. Community Services Report

a. Aquatics Informational Report 30

b. EDC Informational Report 31

c. Community Services Monthly Report 32

d. Building services report 34

d. Protective Services Report

a. January Report 36

e. Treasurer's Report

a. Treasurer Informational Report 41

f. Future St. Stephen Report

a. Future St. Stephen Economic Development monthly
report

67

g. Public Works Report 73

2. Requests for Decisions

Page 2 of 101



a. Royal Bank of Canada Borrowing Authority - CS-002-2022 76
Proposed Resolution:
BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Mayor or such other person as the
Council appoints, shall jointly with the Treasurer be hereby
authorized on behalf of the Town of St. Stephen (the
“Corporation”) to borrow from the Royal Bank of Canada during
the year ending December 31, 2022, the sum of $1,319,850
(one million, three hundred and nineteen thousand eight
hundred and fifty dollars) to be advanced in such amounts as
may be required, from time to time, for Water and Sewerage
Accounts.  The Mayor, Deputy Mayor or Chief Administrative
Officer, together with the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer shall
be appointed by the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all
amounts to $5,000 (five thousand dollars).  The Mayor or
Deputy Mayor together with the Treasurer or Assistant
Treasurer, shall be appointed by the Council of the Town of St.
Stephen on all amounts greater than $5,000 (five thousand
dollars).

THAT the said sum of $1,319,850 (one million, three hundred
and nineteen thousand eight hundred and fifty dollars) so to be
borrowed shall be repaid on or before the 31st day of December
next; and the promissory note or notes of the Corporation, if
any, given therefore, if made payable before the said 31st day of
December may be renewed by the said Mayor and Treasurer,
from time to time, but no renewal shall fall due later than the 31st

day of December next.

b. Tourism St. Stephen Tourism Initiative 78
Proposed Resolution:
THAT Town Council establishes an ad hoc committee of
Council to develop a tourism initiative for the community.

Page 3 of 101



c. Scotiabank Borrowing Authority - CS-003-2022 81
Proposed Resolution:
BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Mayor or such other person as the
Council appoints, shall jointly with the Treasurer or Assistant
Treasurer be hereby authorized on behalf of the Town of St.
Stephen (the “Corporation”) to borrow from the Scotiabank (the
“Bank”), from time to time by way of overdraft, a sum or sums
not exceeding at any one time $396,626.00 (three hundred and
ninety six thousand, six hundred and twenty six dollars), to meet
current expenditures of the Corporation for the year 2022. The
Mayor, Deputy Mayor or Chief Administrative Officer, together
with the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer, shall be appointed by
the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts to $5,000
(five thousand dollars). The Mayor or Deputy Mayor together
with the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer shall be appointed by
the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts greater
than $5,000 (five thousand dollars).

THAT the Mayor or Deputy Mayor with the Treasurer or
Assistant Treasurer are hereby authorized to sign and deliver
the Scotiabank Financial Services Agreement, any service
requests and any other banking agreements on behalf of the
Corporation.

THAT the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer are hereby
authorized and directed to furnish to the Bank, at the time of
each borrowing and at such other times as the Bank may from
time to time request, a statement showing the nature and
amount of the estimated revenues of the current year not yet
collected, or where the estimates for the year have not been
adopted, a statement showing the nature and amount of the
estimated revenues of the Corporation as set forth in the
estimates adopted for the next preceding year, and also
showing the total of any amounts borrowed in the current year
and in any preceding year that have not been repaid.

THAT the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer are hereby
authorized and directed to apply in payment of all sums
borrowed from the Bank, with interest thereon, all of the monies
hereafter collected or received on account or realized in respect
of the taxes levied for the current year and for any preceding
years and all the monies collected or received from any other
source.

Page 4 of 101



d. 2 Armstrong Street 83
Proposed Resolution:
THAT Council authorizes staff to undertake the necessary
actions, up to and including demolition, to bring the property
located at 2 Armstrong Street into bylaw compliance, in the
most efficient and economical manner possible.

e. ACTIVEnet Recreation Management Software – Request for
Decision

85

Proposed Resolution:
THAT the Mayor and Clerk are authorized to enter into an
agreement with ACTIVE Network, of Dallas, TX, on behalf of the
Town of St. Stephen, for the implementation and subscription of
ACTIVEnet Recreation Management Software Services for the
agreed proposed pricing of $39,303 plus tax which includes
proposed implementation fees of $31,353 and annual
subscription costs of $7,950.

f. Regional Fire Dispatch Contract 86
Proposed Resolution:
THAT Council authorizes Mayor and Clerk to execute the
necessary documents to transition to Regional Fire Dispatch
through Saint John Public Safety Answering Point.

g. 19 Church St Zoning Bylaw Non-compliance 88
Proposed Resolution:
THAT Council approves staff to act, up to and including court
proceedings to bring 19 Church Street into compliance with
Zoning Bylaw Z-2.

h. Built Heritage Program Grant TOSS-C1Bi 94
Proposed Resolution:
THAT Council approves the application for the GNB Built
Heritage Program Grant for 6 King Street.

i. Community Grants Fund 2022 100
Proposed Resolution:
That Council approve the following Community Grants

 

Boys & Girls Club                                         $  5,000
Charlotte County Museum (insurance)         $ 2,800
Chocolate Festival                                        $ 1,500
St. John Regional Hospital Foundation        $ 3,000
*Charlotte County Hospital Foundation        $ 3,000
Santa’s Helpers                                            $    500
Sophia’s Recovery Centre                           $ 5,000

Page 5 of 101



M. QUESTION PERIOD
Town Clerk will monitor the Facebook Live feed for any questions pertaining to
items on the agenda.

N. MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR ITEMS/REPORTS

O. NOTICE OF CLOSED MEETING
Proposed Resolution:
That pursuant to section 68(1) of the Local Governance Act, Council move to a
closed session for the purpose of discussing:

1. Potential Land Acquisition/Disposition

2. Confidential Item

P. RECONVENE TO REGULAR MEETING

Q. ADJOURNMENT
Proposed Resolution:
That the meeting be adjourned at ____ pm

Page 6 of 101



Update to St. Stephen Town Council – January 26, 2022 

Canada 1St Basketball organization 

 Board members 

  Robert Otto – Chair    Kendall Kadatz 
  Craig Young – Secretary    Cheri Russell 
  Don Walker – Treasurer    Tom Liston 
  Richard Fulton – President   Carol Kelly 
  David Hyslop – Council representative  Louise Sumner 
  David Ames     David Ganong 
  David Archambault     Rod Cumberland 
  Sarah Conley     Geoff Knight 

 Others 

  Dale Weeks     Darren McCabe 

 Action Teams 

  Fundraising     Finance 
  History      Legal 
  External Engagement    Executive Committee 
  Communications 

Recent Milestones 

1. Acquisition of the court building.  Thanks to the Town’s Conserve the Court Program 

and St. Croix Vocational Centre.  We have also shared a commitment with SCVC that 

we stay engaged for mutual benefit.  

2. Meeting of Phase 1 fundraising goal of $1 million 

Next? 

1. Phase 2 fundraising  

2. Design Development Phase 

Conserve the Court Program 

1. Purchase of Court building – complete 

2. Completion of Heritage evaluation and preservation  

3. Design Development Phase 

4. Court building structural integrity checks and improvements 

 

   

   

   

Page 7 of 101



 

 1 

 

TOWN OF ST. STEPHEN 

REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES 

 

December 29, 2021, 5:00 p.m. 

Moosehead Room at the Garcelon Civic Center 

 

Members Present: Mayor A. MacEachern, Deputy Mayor G. Wheaton, Councillor M. 

Harding, Councillor P. Chisholm, Councillor D. Hyslop, 

Councillor V. Thiessen 

  

Members Absent: Councillor K. Parker 

  

Staff Present: J. Renaud, CAO/Town Clerk, T. Tozer, Director of Corporate 

Services, S. Morton, Director of Protective Services, K. Sumner, 

Director of Community Services 

  

Staff Absent: L. Johnson, Director of Operations Public Works 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor MacEachern called the meeting to order 

B. MOMENT OF REFLECTION 

Mayor MacEachern requested a moment of reflection. 

C. ADDITION OF LATE ITEMS 

D. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

RES. NO. 174/21 

Moved by Councillor Hyslop 

Seconded by Councillor Chisholm 

That the Agenda for the Regular Council Meeting of December 29, 2021, be 

approved. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

Page 8 of 101



 

 2 

E. MAYOR'S COMMENTS/PROCLAMATIONS 

F. DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

G. PUBLIC AND/OR STATUTORY HEARINGS 

1. Vibrant Communities Presentation - Raymond Funk 

H. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

1. Special Council Meeting 

RES. NO. 175/21 

Moved by Councillor Harding 

Seconded by Councillor Hyslop 

That the Minutes of the Special Council Meeting held on November 10, 

2021, be approved as presented. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

2. Special Council Meeting 

RES. NO. 176/21 

Moved by Deputy Mayor Wheaton 

Seconded by Councillor Hyslop 

That the Minutes of the Special Council Meeting held on November 12, 

2021, be approved as presented.  

MOTION CARRIED 

 

3. Regular Council Meeting 

RES. NO. 177/21 

Moved by Councillor Thiessen 

Seconded by Councillor Chisholm 

That the Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting held on November 24, 

2021, be approved as presented. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

J. CORRESPONDENCE 

Page 9 of 101



 

 3 

Thank you card was acknowledged and received. 

1. Saint John Regional Hospital  

K. BYLAWS, PERMITS, AND POLICIES 

L. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Departmental Reports 

RES. NO. 178/21 

Moved by Deputy Mayor Wheaton 

Seconded by Councillor Hyslop 

That the Departmental Information Reports be acknowledged and 

received. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

a. CAO Report 

b. Planning Report 

c. Community Services Report 

d. Protective Services Report 

e. Treasurer's Report 

f. Public Works Report 

g. Future St. Stephen Report 

2. Requests for Decisions 

a. Transfer to General Capital Reserve - 2021 Budget 

RES. NO. 179/21 

Moved by Councillor Harding 

Seconded by Councillor Chisholm 

That the amount of $196,234.00 (one hundred and ninety‐ six 

thousand two hundred and thirty‐ four dollars) be transferred from 

the General Operating Fund to the General Capital Reserve Fund. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

Page 10 of 101



 

 4 

b. Transfer from General Capital Reserve Fund - Traffic Signal 

Upgrades - King Street at Charlotte Mall 

RES. NO. 180/21 

Moved by Deputy Mayor Wheaton 

Seconded by Councillor Hyslop 

That the amount of $36,682.59 (thirty‐ six thousand six hundred 

and eighty‐ two dollars and fifty‐ nine cents) be transferred from 

the General Capital Reserve Fund to the General Capital Fund for 

traffic signal upgrades ‐  King Street at Charlotte Mall. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

c. Transfer from General Capital Reserve Fund ‐  Waterfront 

Revitalization (Wharf Area) 

RES. NO. 181/21 

Moved by Councillor Thiessen 

Seconded by Councillor Harding 

That the amount of $23,383.99 (twenty‐ three thousand three 

hundred and eighty‐ three dollars and ninety‐ nine cents) be 

transferred from the General Capital Reserve Fund to the General 

Capital Fund for the Waterfront Revitalization (Wharf Area) Project. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

d. Transfer to Water and Sewerage Capital Reserve ‐  2021 Budget 

RES. NO. 182/21 

Moved by Councillor Hyslop 

Seconded by Councillor Harding 

That the amount of $10,000.00 (Ten thousand dollars) be 

transferred from the Water and Sewerage Operating Fund to the 

Water and Sewerage Capital Reserve Fund. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

e. Transfer from the General Operating Reserve ‐  Website Redesign 

Page 11 of 101



 

 5 

RES. NO. 183/21 

Moved by Councillor Chisholm 

Seconded by Deputy Mayor Wheaton 

That the amount of $6,859.87 (six thousand eight hundred and 

fifty‐ nine dollars and eighty‐ seven cents) be transferred from the 

General Operating Reserve Fund to the General Operating Fund. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

M. QUESTION PERIOD 

N. MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR ITEMS/REPORTS 

1. Councillor Thiessen 

 Attended all meetings of Council 

 Discussed Vibrant Communities presentation with Raymond Funk 

2. Councillor Chisholm 

 Noted concerns of rising COVID-19 cases in our area and hopes 

everyone takes all necessary precautions 

 Wished everyone a Happy and Safe New Year 

3. Councillor Harding 

 Thanked the Mayor for holiday gift card 

 Dined locally at Carman's Diner and shopped locally at YUM-O Bakery 

 Wished a Happy New Year to Mayor, Council, Staff, and residents 

4. Deputy Mayor Wheaton 

 Attended the November Town Council meetings 

 Attended Neighbourhood Works (formerly CC Group Home) meetings 

 Volunteered at Santa's arrival 

 Attended "Anica" holiday concert at the Garcelon Civic Center 

 Attended several Irishmen hockey games 

 Attended Tourism Meeting to review proposal 

 Attended several doctor recruitment meetings 

Page 12 of 101



 

 6 

 Worked on year end "St. Stephen 150" festivities that have been 

placed on hold 

 Thanked staff and wished everyone a Happy New Year 

5. Councillor Hyslop 

 Attended Canada 1st Basketball meetings 

 Attended Charlotte County Museum meeting 

 Attended "Anica" holiday concert at the Garcelon Civic Center 

 Attended several hockey games 

 Attended all meetings of Council 

 Wished everyone a Happy New Year 

6. Mayor MacEachern 

 Thanked Deputy Mayor Wheaton for her assistance with mayoral 

duties while he was with his family 

 Attended Santa's Helpers at CHCO-TV 

 Attended several meetings at the Town Hall 

 Wished everyone a Happy New Year and thanked staff for a great year 

O. NOTICE OF CLOSED MEETING 

P. RECONVENE TO REGULAR MEETING 

Q. ADJOURNMENT 

RES. NO. 184/21 

Moved by Councillor Harding 

Seconded by Councillor Chisholm 

That the meeting be adjourned at 6:11 p.m. 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

_________________________ 

Mayor 

_________________________ 

Town Clerk 

 

Page 13 of 101



Page 14 of 101



Page 15 of 101



Page 16 of 101



Page 17 of 101



Town of St. Stephen 

INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report:  CAO-01-22

To:   

From:    

Resource Staff:   

Date of Meeting: 

Subject: 

Mayor and Council 

Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 

N/A 

January 26th, 2022
CAO REPORT 

Recommendation:  That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

The activities of the Office of the Chief Administrative Officer for the reporting period included 

the following: 

1) During this reporting period the Government of New Brunswick implemented level 3 of the Covid 
Winter Plan.  In accordance with the restrictions contained within that level, the Garcelon Civic 
Center was closed to the public with the exception of the Town Hall and Covid-19 Vaccination 
clinics.  Additionally, many members of the administrative team have been asked to work remotely 
as much as possible.  While this does have an impact upon the efficiency of our operation, this 
approach limits unnecessary contact between employees, which is a best practice at this time.  This 
approach will be continually evaluated as part of ongoing risk assessments and government 
regulations.  

2) The Town's mandatory vaccination policy was implemented on December 31st, 2021.  I am happy 
to report that the vast majority of staff have elected to comply with the policy.  
An exceptionally small number of staff have been placed on unpaid leave in accordance with the 
policy.  

3) On Friday, January 21st, the Transition Facilitator appointed by the Government of New Brunswick 
reached out for the purposes of establishing an initial meeting of a transition committee.  At this 
time he has invited the Mayor and CAO to represent the Town of St. Stephen.  This initial meeting 
is currently scheduled for Tuesday, January 25th, 2022.  It is expected that more information 
regarding the planned transition process will be obtained during this introductory meeting.  

4) The land located immediately east of the Beacon apartment buildings has been now been transferred 
back to the Town of St. Stephen in accordance with the terms of the development agreement.  
Administration believes this land to be appropriate for additional development.  A Request for 
Proposal document is being drafted to open the land for development subject to Council approval.  

5) The CAO has also been attempting to work in conjunction with our project partners at Canada 1s 
Basketball, with respect to the Conserve the Court program.  Work continues towards finding the 
terms of a lease agreement which will allow both parties to undertake the work necessary on the 
facility while also abiding by various legal constraints on faced by the operations of the parties.  

Page 18 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

To: Council 
From: Alex Henderson 
Resource Staff: 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: Planning & Development Report 
 

 

 

Town Planning Update 

 SNBSC met with CAO to chart possible planning by-law updates needed for 2022 in anticipation of 

upcoming new municipal entity; 

 Development Officer provided interpretation to the Town building inspector on a property’s 

compliance with their variance terms and conditions; 

 Met with FSS and CAO to review an early draft of a secondary municipal plan by-law for the St. 

Stephen Business Park that will later be brought to Council for consideration; 

 Researching standards and best practices for private streets in subdivision accesses; 

 PRAC will consider a variance and temporary use authorization application for the commercial 

signage at 1 Milltown Blvd. on Thursday January 20th.  

Year End Development Update 

 One hundred and forty-four (144) building permit applications processed, reviewed for zoning 

compliance, and forwarded to Town building inspector in 2021 (total est. construction value $ 

3,002,160.04, total permit revenue for Town: $ 15,849.01); 

 One (1) new building permit application approved for zoning in reporting period; 

 Five (5) development permits issued in 2021; 

 Four (4) subdivision plans approved in 2021 (one parcel created in report period); 

 Seventeen (17) sign permits issued in 2021. 

Year-end Total Combined Permit Construction Values in the Town of St. Stephen 

 

Total Building Permits 

2020 2021 

$11,354,112.59 $ 3,002,160.04 

153 144 

 

Respectfully submitted by: 

 

Alex Henderson, Planning Director, M.C.P., MCIP, RPP (NB) 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 19 of 101



Southwest New Brunswick Service Commission Month: ALL 2021

Zoning Reviews Town of St. Stephen 

DATE CONSTRUCTION TYPE OF ESTIMATED FEE

RECEIVED ADDRESS STRUCTURE VALUE PAID

JANUARY

Dec. 23/20 60 Union St., St. Stephen Aleration/repair 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Dec. 29/20 245 Milltown Blvd., St Stephen Window replacement 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 07/21 38 Rose Street, St. Stephen Demolition 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 08/21 67 Princess St., St. Stephen Alteration/repair to dwelling 300.00$             25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 6/21 9 Elizabeth St., St. Stephen Heat pump 3,933.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 28/20 207 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Installing a Garage Door 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 18/21 5 Edgewood Drive, St. Stephen Mini-home 4,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

FEBRUARY

Jan. 29/21 15 McColl St., St. Stephen Electrical & renos 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Feb. 1/21 134 King Street, St. Stephen Renovations to create a 4 unit dwelling 60,000.00$        300.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 08/21 22 Rushton St., St. Stephen Heat pump 4,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Feb. 16/.21 11 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Heat pump 19,000.00$        95.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Feb. 4/21 21 Rose St., St. Stephen Fence 7,500.00$          37.50$          Review complete, sent to Manzer Variance for height

MARCH

Mar. 10/21 79 Main St., St. Stephen Siding 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 8/21 2 Wildwood St., St. Stephen Mini-home 117,985.00$      794.96$        Review complete, sent to manzer

Mar. 11/21 27 Boundary St., St. Stephen Basement Reno/Home Buisness 19,000.00$        95.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 15/21 16 King St., St. Stephen Alteration/repair to commercial structure 20,000.00$        100.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 17/21 65 West St., St. Stephen Alteration/repair to single family dwelling 1,800.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 18/21 85 Main St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 7,000.00$          35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 30/21 21 Carleton St., st. Stephen front step 850.00$             25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

STATUS NOTES

Page 20 of 101



Mar. 31/21 13 Main S.t, St. Stephen Heat Pump 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

APRIL

Jan. 04/21 59 Hawthorne Ave, St. Stephen Concrete slab & Addition 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Mar. 30/21 43 Riverside Drive, St. Stephen Balcony 2,600.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 1/21 3 Abbot St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 4,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 1/21 78 Prince William St., St. Stephen Deck and garage 22,300.00$        111.50$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 7/21 139 Pleasant St., St. Stephen Addition 8,000.00$          40.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 9/21 141 King St., St. Stephen Alteration/repair to commercial structure 300,000.00$      1,250.00$     Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 9/21 56 Duke St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 4,800.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 12/21 124 King St., St. Stephen Deck  3,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 12/21 9 Murchie Ave., St. Stephen Demolition of a single family dwelling 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 13/21 49 Hill St., St. Stephen garage 35,000.00$        175.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 14/21 95 Marks St., St. Stephen garage 12,000.00$        60.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 14/21 31 Church St, St. Stephen baby barn 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer Permit cancelled, fee to go towards dwelling when they apply.

Apr. 15/21 18 Cove St., St. Stephen Deck 4,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 9/21 41 King St., St. Stephen Roof replacement 235,000.00$      1,087.50$     Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 22/21 46 Hawthorne St, St. Stephen Deck 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 23/21 47 Queen St. E., St. Stephen Deck 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

MAY

Apr. 23/21 2 Princess St., St. Stephen Siding 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 26/21 11 Dow St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 11,000.00$        55.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 3/21 11 School St., St. Stephen Picnic Shelter 10,000.00$        50.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 12/21 35 Main St., St. Stephen Window replacement 2,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 30/21 18 Marks St.., St. Stephen Foundation repair 10,000.00$        50.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 4/21 19 St. Croix St., St. Stephen Deck 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 4/21 10 River St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 6/21 8 King St., St. Stephen Roof 20,000.00$        100.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 6/21 29 Parkwood Drive, St. Stephen siding 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 11/21 113 Queen St. W, St. Stephen Single family dwelling 110,000.00$      775.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Apr. 9/21 78 Prince William St., St. Stephen Demo & addition 28,147.00$        140.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Page 21 of 101



May 14/21 4 Oaks Way, St. Stephen deck 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 17/21 3 Ross Ave., St. Stephen Foundation repair 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 12/21 274 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Heat Pump 22,000.00$        110.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 13/21 235 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen steps 800.00$             25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 10/21 33 Riverside Dr., St. Stephen deck 3,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 6/21 7 Deacon Lane, St. Stephen pool and enclosure 6,838.83$          34.19$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 12/21 90 Union St., St. Stephen Deck replacement 6,200.00$          31.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 7/21 36 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Alteration/repair 35,000.00$        175.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 12/21 15 George St., St. Stephen Deck 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 19/21 54 Queen St. W., St. Stephen shed 500.00$             25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 14/21 42 Thompson Ave., St. Stephen Pool replacement 6,000.00$          30.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 17/21 7 St. Croix St., St. Stephen Ornamental Structure attached to fence 700.00$             25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 25/21 11 School St., St. Stephen Window replacement 309,719.46$      1,274.30$     Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 17/21 6 Groom St., St. Stephen pool and enclosure 15,000.00$        75.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 27/21 18 St. Croix St., St. Stephen Demolition N/A 25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

JUNE

May 27/21 74 Union St., St. Stephen pool 7,500.00$          37.50$          Review complete, sent to Manzer VARIANCE

May 28/21 7 Elm St., St. Stephen Replace front porch 9,000.00$          45.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

May 31/21 56 West St., st. Stephen Alteration/repair 65,000.00$        325.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 2/21 6 Oaksway, St. Stephen Heat pump 6,000.00$          30.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 4/21 61 Marks St.,, St. Stephen Deck extension 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 8/21 312 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen pool and deck 6,000.00$          30.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 9/21 282 King St., St. Stephen roof 98,250.00$        491.25$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 14/21 29 Queen St. W, St. Stephen Steps 2,500.00$          25.00$          review complete, sent to Manzer

June 15/21 26 Queen St. E., St. Stephen Heat pump 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 17/21 457 Milltown Blvd, St. Stephen Fire Alarm Upgrade 7,800.00$          39.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 21/21 17 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Shed 1,250.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 14/21 23 Rose St., St. Stephen Pool with enclosure and fence 7,000.00$          35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 23/21 41 Church St., St. Stepen Windows, siding and sofits 15,000.00$        75.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 29/21 45 Parkwood Drive, St. Stephen Single family dwelling 140,000.00$      850.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 30/21 143 Queen St. W, St. Stephen Demo Unknown 25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

JULY

Page 22 of 101



June 25/21 183 Union St., St. Stephen Fence with roof - dog kennel 2,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 2/21 12 Park Wood Dr., St. Stephen pool with enclosure 8,000.00$          40.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 5/21 32 Abbott St., St. Stephen pool with enclosure 8,000.00$          40.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 6/21 56 Hill St., St. Stephen pool with enclosure 4,400.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 7/21 8 George St., St. Stephen demo of porch and redo siding 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 8/21 30 School Street, St. Stephen detached deck 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

June 4/21 5 Pagan St., St. Stephen Fence 13,980.00$        70.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 20/21 352 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Fence 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Jan. 26/21 89 Prince William St., St Stephen Public Storage 25,000.00$        125.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 19/21 55 Princess St., St. Stephen Foundation repair 18,000.00$        90.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 23/21 15 Pine St., St. George shed 1,200.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 23/21 131 Queen St. W., St. Stephen Alteration/repair for salon in dwelling 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 27/21 31 Spring St., St. Stephen Heat pump 5,048.50$          25.24$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 27/21 33 Spring St., St. Stephen Heat pump 5,382.00$          26.91$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 27/21 24 Boundary St., St. Stephen pool with enclosure 7,000.00$          35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 22/21 176 Pleasant St., St. Stephen Single Family Dwelling 83,000.00$        415.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 26/21 7 St. Croix St., St. Stephen Garage renovations 15,000.00$        75.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 26/21 64 Prince William St., St. Stephen Foundation repair 20,000.00$        100.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

July 27/21 82 McColl St., St. Stephen Demolition N/A 25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

AUGUST

Aug. 5/21 323 Milltown Blvd. St. Stephen Heat pump 5,800.00$          29.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 10/21 4 Victoria St., St. Stephen Heat pump 4,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 10/21 55 Marks St., St. Stephen Roof replacement over front steps 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 11/21 269 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Heat pump 2,800.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 16/21 235 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen replace deck and steps 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 23/21 18 St. Croix St, St. Stephen Alteration/repair 50,000.00$        250.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 20/21 44 Porter St., St. Stephen Porch addition 10,000.00$        50.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 20/21 60 Marks St., St. Stephen Heat pump 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 23/21 84 Pleasant St., St. Stephen Foundation repair 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

SEPTEMBER

July 8/21 111 Queensway, St. Stephen detached garage 20,000.00$        100.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Aug. 31/21 27 Elm Park, St. Stephen Addition 80,000.00$        400.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Page 23 of 101



Sept. 1/21 5 Pagan St., St. Stephen Addition 15,000.00$        75.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Sept. 7/21 2 Prescott Court, St. Stephen Deck 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Sept. 16/21 11 Pine St., St. Stephen Heat pump 4,900.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Sept. 28/21 30 Abbot St., St. Stephen detached garage and attached deck 20,500.00$        102.50$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

OCTOBER

Sept. 28/21 88 Pleasant St., St. Stephen Heat pump 7,000.00$          35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Sept. 28/21 24 Prince William St., St. Stephen Detached garage 55,000.00$        275.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 1/21 31 Queensway, St. Stephen window replacement 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Sept. 30/21 28 Porter St., St. Stephen shed 2,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 7/21 65 Prince William St., St. Stephen siding 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 5/21 14 School St., St. Stephen 2 Baby Barns 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 6/21 252 Milltown Blvd., St. stephen Detached garage 13,500.00$        292.50$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 8/21 99 King St., St. Stephen alteration/repair 16,000.00$        80.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 7/21 18 St. Croix St., St. Stephen Detached garage 50,000.00$        250.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 6/21 47 A Queen St. E., St. Stephen deck 6,000.00$          30.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 8/21 56 Duke St., St. Stephen Heat pump 10,000.00$        50.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 12/21 35 Hill St., St. Stephen Addition to dwelling 8,000.00$          40.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 14/21 47 Prince William St., St. Stephen Shed 7,000.00$          35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 18/21 88 West St., St. Stephen Siding 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 18/21 397 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Heat pump 35.00$               35.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 18/21 52 Queensway, St. Stephen Addition to dwelling 35,000.00$        175.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 18/21 44 Churchill St., St. Stephen Clap Boards 3,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 22/21 15 Churchill St., St. Stephen Renovations for a 4 unit dwelling 80,000.00$        400.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 25/21 7 Ross Ave., St. Stephen Demolition 6,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 26/21 16 Route 170, St. Stephen Door and window replacement 5,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 8/21 99 King St., St. Stephen Alteration/repair 80,000.00$        160.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer Fee Doubled

Oct. 6/21 252 Milltown Blvd., St. stephen Foundation repari 13,500.00$        67.50$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Oct. 6/21 252 Milltown Blvd., St. stephen Detached garage 13,500.00$        292.50$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

NOVEMBER

Nov. 2/21 80 Prince William St., St. Stephen Heat Pump 13,780.00$        68.90$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Nov. 5/21 45 Parkwood Dr., St. Stephen Detached garage 10,000.00$        50.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Nov.9/21 59 Queen St. W., St. Stephen attached deck 4,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Page 24 of 101



Nov. 16/21 305 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Heat Pump 7,653.25$          38.26$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Nov. 19/21 28 Union St., St. Stephen porch and wheelchair ramp 100,000.00$      500.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Nov. 23/21 307 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen deck rails and posts 2,500.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

DECEMBER

Dec. 1/21 54 Queen St. W., St. Stephen Heat Pump 6,808.00$          34.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Nov. 26/21 31 & 38 Rushton St., St. Stephen windows and doors 25,600.00$        128.00$        Review complete, sent to Manzer

Dec. 14/21 47 Riverside Dr., St. Stephen Electrical work 1,000.00$          25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Dec. 16/21 73 King St., St. Stephen Demolition 15,000.00$        25.00$          Review complete, sent to Manzer

Page 25 of 101



Southwest New Brunswick Service Commission

Development Permits

DATE DEVELOPMENT PROPOSED FEE

RECEIVED ADDRESS DEVELOPMENT PAID

Apr. 9/21 141 King St., St. Stephen Change of use 50.00$          Issued

MAY

Jan. 26/21 89 Prince William St., St Stephen Public Storage 125.00$        Issued

JUNE

June 10/21 57 King St., St. Stephen Change of use 50.00$          Issued

JULY

July 23/21 131 Queen St. W., St. Stephen Alteration/repair for salon in dwelling25.00$          Issued

AUGUST

Oct. 14/21 33 Wall St., St. Stephen Parking spaces 50.00$          Issued

STATUS COMMENTS

Page 26 of 101



Southwest New Brunswick Service Commission Month: ALL 2021

Sign Permits Town of St. Stephen 

DATE APPROVAL REMOVAL CONSTRUCTION TYPE OF ESTIMATED FEE

RECEIVED DATE DATE ADDRESS STRUCTURE VALUE PAID

JANUARY

Dec. 14/20 Jan. 5/21 Jan. 19/21 246 King St., St. Stephen Portable N/A N/A

Dec. 14/20 Jan. 20/21 Feb. 3/21 246 King St., St. Stephen Portable N/A N/A

Jan. 12/21 Jan. 25/21 N/A 225 King Street Fascia Sign Issued SP-3-21

Jan. 12/21 Jan. 25/21 N/A 225 King Street Fascia Sign Issued SP-4-21

Jan. 12/21 Jan. 25/21 N/A 225 King Street Fascia Sign Issued SP-5-21

Jan. 12/21 Jan. 25/21 N/A 225 King Street Fascia Sign Issued SP-6-21

Jan. 12/21 Jan. 25/21 N/A 225 King Street Fascia Signs (2) Issued SP-7-21

MARCH

Mar. 24/21 Mar. 25/21 Mar. 25/22 123 King Street Portable Sign 25.00$         Issued SP-10-21

APRIL

Apr. 29/21 Apr. 29/21 Apr. 30/22 195 King Street Portable sign Unknown 50.00$         Issued SP-13-21

JUNE

June 18/21 June 24/21 Unknown 166 Milltown Blvd., St. Stephen Fascia Sign Unknown 50.00$         Issued SP-23-21

JULY

July 5/21 July 20/21 N/A 107 Milltown Blvd. Fascia Sign Same 50.00$         Issued SP-28-21

AUGUST

STATUS

51,500.00$     257.50$       

Page 27 of 101



Aug. 6/21 Aug. 6/21 N/A 16 King St., St. Stephen Fascia Sign Same 50.00$         Issued SP-29-21

Aug. 13/21 Aug. 16/21 N/A 107 Milltown Blvd., Sandwhich board Same  $        50.00 ISSUED SP-30-21

Aug. 11/21 Aug. 16/21 Canadian Tire Portable Same N/A

SEPTEMBER

1-Sep-20 Sept. 18/21 N/A 210 King St., St. Stephen 2 fascia & 2 sign boxesSame 50.00$         Issued SP-32-21

OCTOBER

Sept. 30/21 Oct. 1/21 N/A 5 Route 170, St. Stephen Point of purchase signsame 50.00$         ISSued SP-33-21

DECEMBER

Dec. 3/21 Dec. 3/21 N/A 204 Milltown Blvd., St. StephenFreestanding N/A 50.00           Granted Dec. 7/21

Page 28 of 101



Southwest New Brunswick Service Commission Month: ALL 2021

Subdivisions Town of St. Stephen 

FILE #
ORIGINAL 

REC'D

FINAL 

REC'D
PID/PAN

# OF LOTS / 

PARCELS 

CREATED                      

ROAD 

SYSTEM

DATE 

STAMPED

FILE 

REGISTERED 
(check snb)

SS-31-21 May 18/21 May 18/21 01310762 Parcel A Public May 18/21

SS-32-20 May 18/21 May 20/21 15205438 1 Lot (Parcel) Public May 20/21

SS-93-21 Dec. 9/21 Dec. 9/21 01299932 1 Parcel Public Judy Dec. 9/21

SS-97-21 Dec. 22/21 Dec. 22/21 01297977 St. Stephen Charlotte 1 Parcel Public

Page 29 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: Kev Sumner  
From: Aaron G. Muzzatti 
Resource Staff: 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: Aquatics Informational Report 
 

 

 

Past Month’s Events:  

a. New policies enacted for Aquatic staff regarding use of cellphones, lesson planning, Supervisor 

check-in points with swimming instructors at three points through the session. These measures 

have been enacted as a result of the Sunday lessons audit performed by Emily Brown to ensure 

continued quality of our aquatic programming.  

b. COVID-19 restrictions remain in place with the enactment of phase two from GNB.  

c. We will be extending our Aquatic schedule by two additional weeks after two weeks have 

passed until restrictions surrounding COVID-19 change, and allow us to begin our regularly 

scheduled programming as normal.  

 

Update on Aquatic Programming:  

a. The Winter Session of swimming lessons remains suspended as a result of the phase two 

restrictions enacted by the Government of New Brunswick  

b. Private lessons are being reevaluated, with potential to resume following clarification from 

Sport and Recreation.  

c. Enrollment and Lifesaving and Lifeguarding courses remains low, in spite of paid work-term 

agreements (making the course free to participants), low general admission pricing, 

advertisement through schools in the area and application for/advertisement of high-school 

students receiving high-school credits by taking their Lifesaving, Lifeguarding and Instructing 

certifications.  

d. Bronze Medallion and Cross began on Friday, January 14th with 5 registrations.  

e. The Canadian Red Cross announced that it will be ending all of its aquatic programming (with 

the exception of First Nations communities) effective 2023. As a result of this, we have decided 

to build a in-house Swimming Lesson program based on the Red Cross standards. The new 

lessons program will be built by Aaron Muzzatti, with the help of Elizabeth (Maeve) Lee, Emily 

Brown, Dianne Morrison & Carrie Thibideau.  

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 30 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: EDC 01-22 
 
To: Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 

From: Michelle Vest, Events Development Coordinator 
Resource Staff: N/A 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: EDC Informational Report 
 

 

 

1. Past Events: 

a. Irishmen Games – December 4/11 

b. December 4th – Santa’s Arrival - GCC 

c. December 11th – ANICA from AGT concert (Full Circle Opening).   

d. December 31st –St. Stephen 150 documentary release – CANCELLED.  Documentary was not 

provided by videographer by the 23rd deadline (note: we still have not received the video at 

the time of writing this report from Juliet Barlett and she has chosen to return the 

payment). 

 

2. Current & Future Events: 

a. All public events currently on hold due to Omicron 

b. Hockey, swim and cheer continue at the GCC for those 12+.  Operational plans have been 

confirmed by users. 

 

3. Additional Information: 

a. Covid clinics – 6 scheduled for January, February still pending 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michelle Vest 

Events Development Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 31 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Office  
From: Kev Sumner, Director of Community Services 
Resource Staff: Aaron Muzzatti, Jeremy McShane & Michelle Vest 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: Community Services Monthly Report 
 

 

 

a. The new COVID level 3 restrictions established on January 13th mean that the GCC has been 

closed since the following Saturday. The Community Services team quickly responded to the 

GNB rules in regard to staff scheduling and communicating it to the users.  

b. Tourism Initiative – The Accelerated Market Report (AMR) for the GCC received a 6 month 

review on Jan 13th with the tourism consultant. Plus on Jan 19th GNB hosted a workshop devoted 

to tourism data and how it can be used to attract new visitors to the Town. 

c. Kendall from Future St. Stephen, Michelle Vest and I have developed Terms of Reference for an 

ad hoc Tourism Initiative Committee of Town Council, the document is attached. 

d. The Canada Summer Jobs and NB SEED employment applications for Summer Students were 

completed in readiness for the year.  

e. Grant information and the process for applications for the Dog Park in Elm Street Nature Park 

have been shared with the Dog Club, they are starting their fundraising project. 

f. I have started a rationalization review of our Parks and Green Spaces, plus I have researched 

solutions to the Schafer Beetle problems ahead of the spring.  

g. Our staff has started a review of the GCC Preventative Maintenance procedures with Jeremy 

taken up new responsibilities as Facilities Maintenance Coordinator for all our Town buildings. 

h. ACTIVENet – I have attached a Request for Decision item in relation to finding a new provider for 

the GCC scheduling and invoicing software. 

i. The Canada First Basketball group has met with the Town Staff to coordinate the development 

of the building at 6 King Street, building management, grant coordination and communication 

are the items that have required work from the Community Services Dept. 

j. With the New year we re-allocated the Front Desk staff to be supervised by Michelle, from the 

Events Dept. This will help with staffing resources and it assists the Corporate Services Dept. 

k. I have started to develop a vehicle tender for the Community Services department, we are 

looking at an electric/hybrid vehicle to replace the 2006 Ford Escape. 

 

Meetings & other activities: 

a. Community Service departmental meetings every Tuesday at 9am.  

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 32 of 101



b. Senior Management Team meetings every Tuesday morning at 10am. 

c. Monthly Joint Health & Safety Meetings at 199 Union St, first Weds of month. 

d. Fundy Recreation Professionals Assoc. (FRPA) zoom meeting every third month 

e. Monthly Town Council meeting 

f. Basketball Court meeting with the C1B1 working group 

 

Page 33 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: Kev Sumner  
From: Jeremy McShane  
Resource Staff: 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: Building services report 
 

 

 

Garcelon civic center  

1. Ongoing preventative maintenance in building. 

2. Regular preventive maintenance completed on all four boilers completed. 

3. Kube #6 is offline, parts ordered and will be running soon. Does not affect ice making abilities. 

4. We have suspended the services of security guards at this point, we will re-evaluate. 

5. Dectron air handling unit has had two equipment failures, parts are ordered and will be repaired 

once the parts all here. This unit exchanges the air and dehumidifies the air for the aquatics 

area, during the time this is down we are experiencing large amounts of condensation on certain 

surfaces, as well as some condensation runoff out of the unit through the ceiling in the PVR as 

well as the coat check.  

6. Ceiling tiles are currently removed from all the coat check ceiling, and some water damaged 

ones in the PVR. Once repairs are complete on Dectron, the ceiling will be repaired. 

7. Building will be closed Dec 25th and Dec 26th. 

8. Vaccine clinics are on going. 

9. Attended weekly CS team meeting. 

10. Attended 2021 Atlantic Asset Management Conference.  

11. Attended Rec NB meetings  

5 Kings building 

1. Touched base with business owner things are going well. 

2. HVAC unit had some service work completed for the winter months, System was found to be 

low on refrigeration, as well as a bent fan again. Need to explore some type of covering for the 

bullpen to keep snow and ice from falling into the unit. 

3. Purchased and Installed new heater hookups as a backup help for heating.  

4. Will be following up late January 14. 

5. Will be doing HVAC upgrades in spring 2022.  

 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 34 of 101



Library 

1. Ongoing issues with exterior locks, will be looking into getting all new commercial knobs on 

exterior doors. 

2. Ongoing parking issues, I will be following up with Bi-law. 

3. Works Dept have supplied salt to the staff for use around entrances. 

4. Orkin is scheduled to do another pest survey.  

RCMP building. 

1. Front door out of adjustment, dragging on the floor, Had contractor into adjust the doors. 

2. Door leading to secure area also out of adjustment, had contractor on site to make adjustments. 

3. Driveway elevations work still to be carried out on the south side of the building.  

 

 

 

Page 35 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: CAO Renaud 
From: Sean Morton 
Resource Staff: Bylaw Enforcement and Building Inspection 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: January Report 
 

 

 

 

Fire Chief Report  

 

1. Alarms were:  Town Alarms                         9 

                            Out of Town Alarms             2 

                            Total                                           11  

  Alarms                                                              # Calls                  # FF  # Hours 

1. MVA     2  20  20   

2. Ambulance Assist    1  13  13 

3. Alarm     5  38  38 

4. NB Power     1  5  5 

5. Smell of Smoke    1  9  9 

6. Rubbish Fire    1  18  18 

Total 

SSFD     11 

Other FD    12  

St Stephen PW   6  

St Andrews PW   2  

Total calls dispatched   31  (December 21 – January 16) 

2. Fire Department Activities  
1. Monthly meeting. 

2. Fire extinguisher program. 

3. Distribute blankets from Insurance Bureau of Canada to area FDs. 

4. Building preparations for new ladder truck. 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 36 of 101



5. Fire Prevention Week prize presentations with Sparky at SSES. 

 

 

3. Fire Chiefs Activities 
1. Monthly reporting to the Office of the Fire Marshal. 

2. Monthly payroll entries for volunteers. 

3. Semi-annual payroll submission for volunteers. 

4. Senior Management Team meetings. 

5. NBCC Association Training Representative duties.  

6. Fundy Firefighters Association Meeting. 

7. Provincial Training Advisory Committee (Office of Fire Marshal). 

8. Director of Protective Services duties. (Building and By-law) 

9. JHSC meetings and related work. 

10. TOSS Health and Safety Plan development (Lockout Tagout, Workplace Violence 

Policies). 

11. Regional Health Officer conference call. 

12. Milltown Dam CLC meeting. 

13. Hotspot Parking follow up meeting. 

14. Fleet Maintenance software research. 

15. Entity 57 related research, planning and discussions. 

16. Meeting with Regional Fire Marshal on current issues. 

17. Charlotte County potable water delivery contingency planning meeting facilitated by 

REMC Rhonda Hulan.  

18. Cross border response procedure review, in light of January 15th ArriveCan changes. 

 

 

Page 37 of 101



 

Sincerely, 

Fire Chief Sean Morton 

Page 38 of 101



 

Bylaw Enforcement Report 

 
   Please find enclosed the report for By-Law –Enforcement. We handled 25 occurrences.  

Assist other Dept. (3) 

Received a call with regards to overnight parking at the civic center. 

Vehicles will be posted with the overnight parking notice. 

Received a call from public works about a car blocking Moores lane. 

Owner of vehicle was informed of the overnight parking. 

Received a call from public works of overnight parking on St. James St. 

Spoke with the owner and he will park elsewhere. 

Assist general public (5) 

(1)  Received numerous complaints with regards to a property on Milltown Blvd.  
Building Inspector and the development Office are looking into the matter. 

        (2)  Received a call from a lady inquiring if the Town has a by-law regarding having rats for pets, 

as her tenant has a few. 

  Informed her that we do not have a rat pet by law, but who would want them for pets. 

 (3)  Received a call about toxic smoke coming from a chimney on Porter St. 

  Numerous patrols made and all I could smell was wood smoke. 

(4) issue with un-licensed portable signs in Town as been rectified. 

  The ongoing issue with a sign issue for a business in Town should be rectified this 

month. 

(5) Spent most of the month dealing with a travel trailer in Town being used as a livable 

structure, This issue is ongoing and will have to be dealt with in the courts. 

 Parking (15) 

 Seven warnings given to people parking illegally at the mall, and blvd. And numerous complaints of 

overnight parking 

Dog Complaints (1) 

 

           Regards, 

           Brent MacDougall, By Law Enforcement 

Page 39 of 101



Report of the animal control officer 

I answered all calls and patrolled the town each day. Very quiet this month. No animals impounded 

 

Regards, 

Mike Shannon 

Animal Control Officer 

              

Building Inspection Report 

 
The month of December brought in a total of 4 (four) permits which represents $62,408.00 

(sixty-two thousand and four hundred & eight dollars) in building costs. The total for the year is 

121 (one hundred twenty-one) permits at a total amount of $4,596,724.54 (four million, five 

hundred & ninety-six thousand, seven hundred and twenty-four & 54 cents). 

 

No (0) Stop Work Orders were issued in the month December. My office has 4 (four) properties 

we are dealing with under the Unsightly By-Law which are active and in process. 

Our office dealt with and has filed 6 (six) Inspection reports.  

Zero (0) Building Permit waivers for electrical needs were issued. 

All required reports were filed with the appropriate government agencies  

 

It should be noted that prior to issue of a building permit a pre-site inspection is conducted to 

determine if a building permit is needed. All permits are based on the individual pre-inspection 

of the proposed work. If needed a plan review is conducted, (many instances do not warrant a 

permit as the work may be deemed maintenance only), and ongoing inspections are conducted 

throughout the construction period. 

 

Respectively Submitted, 

Manzer Young 

Building Inspector  

Town of St. Stephen 

 

Page 40 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: CS-001-2022 
 
To: Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 
From: Tim Tozer, CPA, CMA, Treasurer 
Resource Staff: Assistant Treasurer, Accounts Payable Manager, Manager of Compensation      and 
Benefits/Accounts Receivable and Collection, Human Resource/Office Manager and Administrative 
and Accounting Coordinator. 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject: TREASURER INFORMATIONAL REPORT 
 

 

 

 

A) Staff Activity since last report: 

1) Monthly accounting procedures: 
 

a)  Accounts Receivable processing (Invoicing, payment processing, deposits, and 
collection for both the Utility and General Fund). 
-Accounts Receivable closed to November 30, 2021. 
-Utility collection procedures involving analysis and possible connection shutoffs. -
Ongoing. 
-Property sale turnover procedures-Ongoing. 
-Review for update of Collection Policy-In progress. 
-Utility billings October-December 2021-In progress. 
 

b)  Accounts Payable processing (Verification and input of invoices, and payment of 
amounts owed by the Town). 
-Accounts payable closed to November 30, 2021.                                                                                  

-Review of procedures for electronic payments-In progress.                                                                                                                  

-Review for update of Purchasing Policy-In progress.                                                                

-Implement new software and hardware for electronic paper cheque deposits-In 

progress. 

c) Payroll processing (Timesheet review, payroll entry, and other processing 
requirements). 
-Bi-weekly 70 employees, Monthly 27 employees, Quarterly 1 employee, Bi-yearly 7 
employees, Total 105 employees. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 41 of 101



d) General Ledger reconciliations and analysis of accounts of all funds (Monthly closing of 
accounting records for nine funds). 
-Finalized Month end completed to February 28, 2021. 
-Department Head and Council Statements to November 30, 2021 
 

2) Meetings: 
 

a) Senior Managers staff meetings. 
b) Accounting Team staff meetings. 
c) Council Meeting-December 29, 2021. 
d) Implementation of Customer Portal and Recreation Services software-Ongoing 

meetings. 
 

3) Projects:  
 

a) Capital Projects-Analysis, MCBB application and projection, tendering, approval, and 
processing of progress payments, grant remittance forms and debenture 
applications: 

1) Elm Park, Pinewood, and Maple-Sewer Separation and Infrastructure 
Renewal. 

2) Milltown Boulevard (King Street to Hawthorne Street)-Water main and 
Sanitary Sewer Renewal. 

3) Thompson Avenue and Springwood Court-Sanitary Sewer Renewal and 
Combined Sewer Separation. 

4) Designated Highway-Milltown Blvd (Boundry Street to Hill Street). 
5) Waterfront Revitalization. 
6) Water and Sanitary Sewer System Extension Route 3 (GTF and Other 

Funding). 
7) Riverside Drive (East) Wastewater Pumping Station Replacement (GTF). 
8) West Street Utility Renewal (GTF). 
9) Maxwell Crossing Pump Station Roof Rehabilitation (GTF). 
10) W.F. Ganong Commemorative Statue. 
11) Single Axel Aerial Platform Fire Truck. 
12) Combined Sewer Separation & Utility Renewal-Union Street (West to 

Boundary). 
13) All Season Dump Body. 
14) Traffic Lights-Charlotte Mall. 

 
 

b) Staff cross training-Ongoing. 
 
c) Accounting office planning to minimize paper use-Ongoing.  
 
d) Multiple HST remittances-Ongoing. 

 
e) Various insurance issues-Ongoing. 

 
f) Administering the Charles F Todd Trust Fund-Ongoing. 

Page 42 of 101



 
g) 2022 Budget Procedures-Complete. 

 
h) Transition to Customer Portal and Recreation Services software-In progress 

Page 43 of 101



Page 44 of 101



Page 45 of 101



Page 46 of 101



Page 47 of 101



Page 48 of 101



Page 49 of 101



Page 50 of 101



Page 51 of 101



Page 52 of 101



Page 53 of 101



Page 54 of 101



Page 55 of 101



Page 56 of 101



Page 57 of 101



Page 58 of 101



Page 59 of 101



Page 60 of 101



Page 61 of 101



Page 62 of 101



Page 63 of 101



Page 64 of 101



Page 65 of 101



Page 66 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: Jeff Renaud 
From: Kendall Kadatz 
Resource Staff:  
Date of Meeting: January 19, 2022 
Subject: Future St. Stephen Economic Development monthly report 
 

 

 
 
Housing 

 Ongoing dialogue with several potential developers 
 Working on development scheme by-law for additional multi-unit residential developments 

 
Population Growth 

 Welcome St. Stephen - 17 newcomer families registered. Interested volunteers can contact 

us at welcome@chocolatetown.ca  

 Local physician recruitment group is actively pursuing potential doctors and locations for a 
collaborative clinic 

 
Commercial/Small Business Growth 

 Tax sales have been postponed to April 
 List of government supports for small businesses and self-employed individuals can be 

found on the ONB https://onbcanada.ca/guide-for-businesses-provincial-and-federal-relief-
measures/ and Government of Canada websites https://www.canada.ca/en/department-

finance/economic-response-plan.html  
 Employer survey on hiring, training, HR capacity needs going forward being circulated this 

week and next 

 Job fair for Charlotte County scheduled for week of February 21, may need to be online 
again 

 Met with Community Development Eastern Charlotte and economic development 
representatives from municipalities in Charlotte County on regional collaboration 

 Province has agreed on affordable day care plan with the federal government, the Boys and 
Girls Club has been contacted regarding their interest in expanding their efforts 

 
Tourism 

 Next steps for strategy are being worked on together with Community Services 
 Data session held with Tourism, Heritage and Culture for local stakeholders 
 C1BI is finalizing their Phase 1 goals and moving on to Phase 2, which includes securing 

provincial and federal government funding 

Page 67 of 101

mailto:welcome@chocolatetown.ca
https://onbcanada.ca/guide-for-businesses-provincial-and-federal-relief-measures/
https://onbcanada.ca/guide-for-businesses-provincial-and-federal-relief-measures/
https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/economic-response-plan.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/economic-response-plan.html


 
Industrial Park 

 Functional plan is finalized, secondary plan is being worked on currently 
 
 
 
Annual Report is attached for your review on Future St. Stephen 2021 activities. 
 
 

 
 
 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 68 of 101



Future St. Stephen 2021 Annual Report

Still situated in the midst of the Covid-19 pandemic, 2021 continued to be a challenging year
from an economic development perspective, but we continued to move forward with several
projects and lay planning foundations that will enable us to attract business and move quickly as
we begin to emerge from the current restrictions. Following are summary descriptions of where
we have come in each of our key focus areas in the past year:

Housing

The Southwest New Brunswick 2020 Municipal Housing Study released in September 2020
indicated that St. Stephen had a rental vacancy rate of 0.3% and needed 431 units within 5
years to address existing and upcoming demands for rental housing. This was in addition to the
50 Beacon apartment units that opened in August 2020.

To help address this primary issue for our community, several initiatives have been taken at
planning and developer levels.

Planning:
● Input was provided by FSS board members and other community members into the

revised Zoning bylaw for the Town, resulting in a stronger document that made sense to
potential developers and reduced barriers to future developments.

● The Town’s incentive policy was revised in collaboration with the Town and the Service
Commission, resulting in a transparent incentive policy for multi unit residential,
commercial and industrial developments within the municipality.

● A developer’s package was compiled for developers, identifying the best locations within
the municipality where vacant land exists that is serviced and well suited for multi unit
residential developments.

● To facilitate development in two key potential areas, FSS has collaborated with the Town
and the Service Commission on a development scheme bylaw for two locations, behind
the St. Stephen Elementary School, and on the town owned property on Boundary
Street.

● The property beside the Beacon apartments has now been conferred back to the Town
and will be going out for an RFP early in the new year.

● The Service Commission received a grant to develop a proposal for reducing barriers to
development in rural settings. FSS is providing input into their proposal.

● The Province commissioned New Directions from BC to develop a proposal for a
non-profit housing developer that would serve the whole province, working with local
non-profits where they exist. This was pushed for by the NB Business Council and NB
Multicultural Council, and I have been in regular contact with all of these entities
throughout this process, along with Rob Kelly, VP of RDC, who is one of the provincial
reps in this process. I have stated to all parties that St. Stephen would love to be the site
of a pilot project for this entity if and when the business model for it is approved.

Developers:

Page 69 of 101



● Tuddenhams - Two 12 unit apartment buildings were proposed and approved by Council
on Prince William Street in front of their storage facility. They have not proceeded with
them yet but still intend to. They have also purchased a couple of single family unit
residential buildings and are converting them to multiple units.

● Carpenters - Heritage properties has plans to convert part of the 2nd floor of Ganong
Place into between 8-17 residential units, and to add 6 residential units to the back of the
old Town Hall. Ganong Place renovations are schedule to begin early in the new year

● Greg Hooper - partnering with Peter Clark from Moncton, they have purchased the St.
Stephen Inn and are converting it into 26 bachelor and 1 bedroom units. They have also
purchased the Knights of Pythias hall in Milltown and are planning to convert it into 12
residential units very soon.

● Common Roots - Mat Rouleau launched his non-profit organization and has purchased
the old Dooly’s and intends to upgrade the 11 residential units upstairs but keep them
affordable.

● An LOI was offered to a developer interested in the Town owned lots next to Something’s
Brewing after they had submitted a proposal for 18 units there, but they have not
completed the LOI.

● John Howard Society was approached to help address the non-profit housing needs in
the community, particularly amongst young men who are homeless or at risk of
homelessness, but they maintain that they do not have the capacity to serve our area at
this time.

● Conversations continue with a range of interested developers interested in doing
everything from converting or renovating units to building new apartment buildings or
housing subdivisions.

Population Growth

2016 census data, the NB-IRDT report we commissioned in 2019 on 2014-2018 data, the labour
market report from David Campbell from March 2021, and ongoing Statistics Canada
projections all showed current and predicted future population declines for St. Stephen and
Charlotte County. Covid-19 seems to have offered a gift to the Maritimes in this regard, with
people moving East in droves over the past year, and 5,000 people coming to NB in July-Sept of
this year.

● Our efforts for population growth prior to this had included a marketing campaign we
started with Brainworks a few years ago that migrated to Genevieve Coates just as the
pandemic was hitting. This campaign focused on a Visit Here, Move Here, Build
Business Here approach, and has come to be the natural champion or promotion voice
for the Town as it has evolved.

● We have maintained a contract with WorkingNB (PETL) and Sherri Deveau of Practical
Human Resource Solutions for a few years now, which focuses on local support to
Charlotte County employers. Initially focused on assisting companies with immigration
needs, it now includes drawing together HR leaders across major companies to share
resources and address common problems. This past year it has included taking on
responsibility for local job fairs, 2 of which have been completed, with another one taking

Page 70 of 101



place the week of February 21-25. Covid has meant that these have had to be virtual up
to this point, which has been a challenge in our region. Sherri is currently preparing a
survey for local companies to help understand what their needs are as we anticipate
moving out of Covid. We will use this information to help shape a proposal for ongoing
services to the area moving forward in the government’s next fiscal year.

● In consideration for some time, we designed and launched the Welcome St. Stephen
program in partnership with the Town in late October. The core of this program involves
connecting any newcomers to St. Stephen with an information package and a volunteer
who will guide them through life here for their first year in the community, with a goal of
getting them connected in ways that will encourage them to stay here. We have fully
onboarded 17 volunteers to date, on top of the coordinating team of 4 volunteers who
meet with me regularly and helped me design the program. We have registered 15
families into the program so far.

● We received permission from Town Council to put together an application for a feasibility
study and full application for a Local Immigration Program for the Charlotte County area,
with St. Stephen being the submitting municipality. I have begun collaborating with the
Multicultural Association of Charlotte County on this. This would open up funding for a
position for someone to move immigration efforts along at several levels among
stakeholders across the region. This kind of activity is outside the mandate of the
Multicultural Association, who can only offer settlement services, English language
classes, and a few community oriented services within their mandate and funding
options.

Commercial and Small Business Growth

We have seen some encouraging additions and an overall level of resiliency in this priority area
for local businesses, which has likely been bolstered by lockdown efforts that have encouraged
people to shop local. In the past year 21 new businesses were launched, ranging from Dairy
Queen and Simply for Life to farmer’s market vendors and online vendors. Efforts with Sherri
Deveau from PHRS crossover into this area with support offered to businesses, especially with
Covid specific challenges in the past year. FSS also collaborated with the shop local campaign
that the Chamber qualified for grant funding for.

Efforts at securing funding for entrepreneurial programming have not been successful to date.

The Border Arena was assessed for and included in the Atlantic Certified Sites program, a
Foreign Direct Investment initiative that looks to pre-certify commercial sites for larger
companies by ensuring basics like zoning, ownership, building size, and initial environmental
site assessments are complete to facilitate the development process. Initiated by Atlantic CBDC,
we were one of the first sites registered for the program.

Industrial Park

Page 71 of 101



The focus here has been on planning for the potential expansion of the existing park and
determining what an effective management role would look like for FSS in the current situation
and in an expansion scenario. Part of expansion planning has included looking at potential
industries and companies to attract, and considering how to package information about St.
Stephen assets. I have been collaborating with Ignite Fredericton, the Saint John Industrial
Park, and others on this initiative.

The Functional Plan with Dillon Consulting took longer to complete than anticipated, only being
completed late in the year. The Service Commission is now working on the Secondary Plan that
will complement and operationalize aspects of the Functional Plan.

Tourism

FSS cooperated with the Town on initiating a tourism strategy using ACOA’s and Tourism,
Heritage and Culture’s (THC) Destination Market Readiness (DMR) program. A consultant was
hired and from June to November he assessed the St. Stephen scenario, during which he
became fixated on the potential connection to the Bay of Fundy, which skewed the remainder of
his efforts. While there are valuable pieces to pull from the DMR report, the over emphasis on
Fundy that does not connect with locals and does not appear to give a realistic picture to
potential tourists detracted from other beneficial points that could have emerged in the exercise.
This was combined with a view from the consultant that St. Stephen should essentially
transform itself into a tourist town to the detriment of other industries, a view that has not been
embraced by the community throughout the process. In addition, he did not see value in the
basketball court project efforts, especially when weighing the financial inputs required against
other projects to build tourism locally.

After considering the final report and taking stakeholder input on it, the Town has agreed to
strike a Council committee comprised of Town, FSS and community members to put forward a
realistic tourism strategy. This would take into account the DMR report and community input
gathered during the DMR process.

In summary, my assessment of our past year is that we are focusing our efforts on the right
activities, moving several important files forward and seeing progress on many of them, though
not to the extent that we would like in some. I attribute lack of movement in some areas largely
to Covid-19 impacts rather than other impediments at this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Kendall Kadatz
President

Page 72 of 101



 

Town of St. Stephen 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT 

Report: 
 
To: 
From:  
Resource Staff: 
Date of Meeting: Click or tap to enter a date. 
Subject: Enter Your Title Here 
 

 

 

 

Recommendation: That Council accept this report for informational purposes. 

 

Page 73 of 101



Town of St. Stephen 

Information Report to Council 

 Report:  PW 16-21  

 
To:     Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 

From:     Lee Johnson, Director of Operations 

Resource Staff:   Supervisor II, Supervisor I and Treatment Plant Operator 

Date of Meeting: January 26, 2021 

Subject:  January Council Meeting  

 

 

Recommendation:  That this report be received for informational purposes. 

 

 

1: Water system: 

a) Read  Meters. 

b)  Repaired 6  Meters. 

c)  Repaired 1 lateral. 

d) Installed 8 new Meters. 

e) Plowed Snow. 

 

2: Streets: 

              a) Hauled Gravel. 

b) Cold Patched. 

c) Cleaned up Blow Downs. 

d) Cleaned off Catch Basins . 

e) Plowed and Sanded streets and sidewalks. 

 

3:  Waste Water:  

a) Videoed 6  Sewer Laterals. 
b) Repaired 2 Sewer Laterals. 
c) Plowed Snow. 
d) Regular Maintenance.  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 74 of 101



 

 

Project Updates – Town of St. Stephen 

December 06, 2021 
 

Union Street Combined Sewer Separation & Water Main Renewal – Project No. 20-3763 

All underground work complete. Contractor off-site until spring 2022 to complete asphalt type “D” 

placement. 

Milltown Boulevard Designated Highway Upgrades 2020 – Project No. 20-2637 

Contractor to address deficiencies in the spring of 2022. 

Riverside Drive WWPS Replacement – Project No. 19-9953 

All underground work complete. Building placed and mechanical work complete. Contractor currently 

focusing on completion of electrical work.  

 

Page 75 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 

To:     Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 
From:    Frank Godsoe, Assistant Treasurer 
Resource Staff:   N/A 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject:  ROYAL BANK OF CANADA BORROWING AUTHORITY 

 

Recommendation For Resolution:   
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Mayor or such other person as the Council appoints, shall jointly with 
the Treasurer be hereby authorized on behalf of the Town of St. Stephen (the “Corporation”) to 
borrow from the Royal Bank of Canada during the year ending December 31, 2022, the sum of 
$1,319,850 (one million, three hundred and nineteen thousand eight hundred and fifty dollars) to be 
advanced in such amounts as may be required, from time to time, for Water and Sewerage 
Accounts.  The Mayor, Deputy Mayor or Chief Administrative Officer, together with the Treasurer or 
Assistant Treasurer shall be appointed by the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts to 
$5,000 (five thousand dollars).  The Mayor or Deputy Mayor together with the Treasurer or Assistant 
Treasurer, shall be appointed by the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts greater than 
$5,000 (five thousand dollars). 
THAT the said sum of $1,319,850 (one million, three hundred and nineteen thousand eight hundred 
and fifty dollars) so to be borrowed shall be repaid on or before the 31st day of December next; and 
the promissory note or notes of the Corporation, if any, given therefore, if made payable before the 
said 31st day of December may be renewed by the said Mayor and Treasurer, from time to time, but 
no renewal shall fall due later than the 31st day of December next. 

BACKGROUND 

Yearly resolutions are required to modify the borrowing authority to comply with limits set for 
local governments by the Local Governance Act and as required by our Financial 
Institutions. 
The maximum limits that the Town is permitted to have as overdraft protection in the Water 
and Sewerage Operating Fund is set upon approval by Council and the Financial Institution. 
The limits are as follows: 
Water and Sewerage Operating Fund (Royal Bank) – 50% of the budgeted revenue for the 
year. For 2022 this limit is set at $1,319,850 and includes any operating credit lines and 
overdraft protection for Water and Sewerage Operating accounts. 
Changes to the Borrowing limits, within limits set by the Local Governance Act, must be 
approved by Council as security for the respective Financial Institutions. 
OPTIONS 
Option 1-Approve the recommendation and direction: Council may determine that the proposed 
request is appropriate and may approve the recommendation and direction. 
Option 2-Approve a different amount: Council may determine that it is appropriate to approve an 
amount which is lower than the maximum amount authorized by statute. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76 of 101



 

 

Page 77 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Submitted by: Kev Sumner  Endorsed by: Kendall Kadatz, Future St. Stephen 
 
 Reviewed by: Jeff Renaud, CAO   

 
 

 

SUBJECT: T o u r i s m  S t .  S t e p h e n  T o u r i s m  I n i t i a t i ve  

 

RECOMMENDATION: That Town Council establishes an ad hoc committee of Council to 
develop a tourism initiative for the community.  

 
COMMENTS: I d e n t i f y  s t a k e h o l d e r s  &  t r e n d s  i n  t o u r i s m  

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
KEY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED: Timelines, available grants & funding, long term strategies 

 

RELEVANT POLICY: n/a 

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: T o u r i s m  h a s  b e e n  i d e n t i f i e d  a s  p a r t  o f  t h e  s t r a t e g i c  p l a n  

 
DESIRED OUTCOME(S): E s t a b l i s h  a  c o m m i t t e e  o f  c o m m u n i t y m e m b e r s  

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  
1. That Council approves the recommendation. 
2. That Council reject the recommendation. 
3. That Council considers alternative options. 
 

• PREFERRED STRATEGY: Utilize community engagement strategies to seek public input into 

areas and/or projects to consider. Also, work with established community groups to determine if 

potential projects can be identified that may have a mutual benefit. 

IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL: Engage with the community 

 
ORGANIZATIONAL: Work with Future St. Stephen & Town Staff  

 

FINANCIAL: Work within the operat ional  budget for the Town and FSS.  
 

FOLLOW UP ACTION:  

 
COMMUNICATION: Regular monthly meetings 

 
OTHER COMMENTS: P ro v i de  rec ommen dat i ons  b y June  2022  
 

 

Page 78 of 101



Public 

 

 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE | JANUARY 2022 

TOURISM ST. STEPHEN 
COMMITTEE 

 
PURPOSE AND CORE RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Tourism St. Stephen Committee (‘the Committee’) is an ad hoc committee established by Council 
and created to assist the Council in the effective discharge of its responsibilities in relation to the matters 
set out in these Terms of Reference. 

In meeting its responsibilities, the Committee will report to Council with respect to the following key areas: 
 

• The development of a Tourism Initiative for the community. 
• The communication and delivery of best tourism related practices to the community. 
• Identifying potential stakeholders and delegations to present to the committee.  
• Prioritize the recommendations proposed by iImagine. 

 
SCOPE OF WORK 

The Committee will review, consider and make recommendations based on: 

 
• Timelines 

 

• Grants and Funding available 

 

• Long term plans for the Community’s tourism strategies 

 
 

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee will: 

 

• consider the planned financial implications and efficiencies required to achieve operational success 

in the areas for which the Committee is reviewing; 

 

• review existing and future trends in the community that may affect the services which the Town provides 

and its strategic plans; 
 

• Utilize community engagement strategies to seek public input into areas and/or projects to consider. 

Also, work with established community groups to determine if potential projects can be identified that 

may have a mutual benefit. 

Page 79 of 101



Public 

 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE – TOURISM ST. STEPHEN COMMITTEE 2 

 

 
COMMITTEE TERM 

The Committee will provide a recommendation and/or status report to Council: 

• At regular meeting of Council; 
 

• Whenever the committee has reached a consensus recommendation for the project; 
 

• A final recommendation report shall be filed by June 30, 2022; or 
 

• Whenever requested by Council. 

 

The committee shall be dissolved up presentation of the Final Recommendation Report. A new Committee 

may be appointed at the discretion of Council. 

 

AUTHORITY 

In carrying out its duties, the Committee has the authority to discuss directly with management, internal 
auditors, experts/potential vendors, any issue within its remit and to request reports, explanations and 
information of any of the activities or procedures of the Town of St. Stephen. 

The Committee has no independent expenditure authority. Any incurred expenses for the conduct of 
committee work shall be authorized in accordance with normal purchasing procedures. 

 

MEMBERSHIP 

The Committee will be comprised of: 

1) One appointed member of the Town Council, to serve in the capacity of Chair 

2) Mayor shall be an ex officio member. 

3) One appointed member from the Town of St. Stephen Community Services staff 

4) One appointed member from Future St. Stephen 

5) Up to four members at large appointed from within the community. 

 
 

The Committee may invite any other individuals to attend meetings of the Committee as it considers 
appropriate. 

 
Administrative Support to the committee will be provided by the Town of St. Stephen staff on an as needed 
basis. 
 
 

MEETINGS 

The Committee will meet at least once per month or more frequently as required. The Chair or the 
Administrative Lead may call a meeting. Quorum shall consist of 4 members of which one must be the 
Administrative Lead. 

The Chairman of the Committee will provide a report to the Council on a monthly basis. 

 

 

Page 80 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION  

 

 

To:     Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 
From:    Frank Godsoe, Assistant Treasurer 
Resource Staff:   N/A 
Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 
Subject:  SCOTIABANK BORROWING AUTHORITY 

 

Recommendation For Resolution:   
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Mayor or such other person as the Council appoints, shall jointly with 
the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer be hereby authorized on behalf of the Town of St. Stephen (the 
“Corporation”) to borrow from the Scotiabank (the “Bank”), from time to time by way of overdraft, a 
sum or sums not exceeding at any one time $396,626.00 (three hundred and ninety six thousand, 
six hundred and twenty six dollars), to meet current expenditures of the Corporation for the year 
2022. The Mayor, Deputy Mayor or Chief Administrative Officer, together with the Treasurer or 
Assistant Treasurer, shall be appointed by the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts to 
$5,000 (five thousand dollars). The Mayor or Deputy Mayor together with the Treasurer or Assistant 
Treasurer shall be appointed by the Council of the Town of St. Stephen on all amounts greater than 
$5,000 (five thousand dollars). 
THAT the Mayor or Deputy Mayor with the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer are hereby authorized 
to sign and deliver the Scotiabank Financial Services Agreement, any service requests and any 
other banking agreements on behalf of the Corporation. 
THAT the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to furnish to the 
Bank, at the time of each borrowing and at such other times as the Bank may from time to time 
request, a statement showing the nature and amount of the estimated revenues of the current year 
not yet collected, or where the estimates for the year have not been adopted, a statement showing 
the nature and amount of the estimated revenues of the Corporation as set forth in the estimates 
adopted for the next preceding year, and also showing the total of any amounts borrowed in the 
current year and in any preceding year that have not been repaid. 
THAT the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to apply in payment 
of all sums borrowed from the Bank, with interest thereon, all of the monies hereafter collected or 
received on account or realized in respect of the taxes levied for the current year and for any 
preceding years and all the monies collected or received from any other source. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 

Yearly resolutions are required to modify the borrowing authority to comply with limits set for 
local governments by the Local Governance Act and as required by our Financial 
Institutions. 
The maximum limit that the Town is permitted to have as overdraft protection in the General 
Operating Fund is set upon approval by Council and the Financial Institution. 
The limits are as follows: 
General Operating Fund (Scotiabank) – 4% of the 2022 budget or $15,000 whichever is 
greater.   
For 2022 this limit is set at $396,626 and includes any General Fund operating credit lines Page 81 of 101



and overdraft protection, including our credit card limit which has been set at $20,000. 
Changes to the Borrowing limits, within limits set by the Local Governance Act, must be 
approved by Council as security for the respective Financial Institutions. 
 
OPTIONS 
Option 1-Approve the recommendation and direction: Council may determine that the proposed 
request is appropriate and may approve the recommendation and direction. 
Option 2-Approve a different amount: Council may determine to approve an amount which is lower 
than the maximum amount authorized by statute. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 

Page 82 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUBJECT: 2  A r m s t r o n g  S t r e e t  
 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council authorizes staff to undertake the necessary actions, up to 
and including demolition, to bring the property located at 2 Armstrong Street into bylaw 
compliance, in the most efficient and economical manner possible.  

 
COMMENTS:  

 

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
KEY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED:  

 Protective Services received complaints on this property beginning in late 2020. 

 On April 27, 2021, the first notice of inspection was sent out. 

 Subsequent required notifications were issued accordingly. 

 A notice to comply was issued and registered accordingly in November of 2021. 

 The owner(s) have failed to respond or comply. 

 The required timelines and notifications have occurred. 

 

 

RELEVANT POLICY: Bylaw S-11 A By-Law Respecting Dangerous or Unsightly 

Premises 

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE:  

DESIRED OUTCOME(S): B y l a w c o m p l i a n c e  

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  
1. Direct staff to proceed with the recommendation.  
2. Reject the recommendation.  
3. ___________________________________ 
 

PREFERRED STRATEGY:  
IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL:  
 
ORGANIZATIONAL:  

 

FINANCIAL:  

 

FOLLOW UP ACTION:  

 
COMMUNICATION:  

 
OTHER COMMENTS:  
 

 

Page 83 of 101



 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by: ____________________  Endorsed by: ____________________ 
 
 Reviewed by: _____________________    

 
 

 

Page 84 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Submitted by: Kev Sumner   Endorsed by: Tim Tozer, Treasurer 
 
 Reviewed by: Jeff Renaud, CAO    

 
 

 

SUBJECT: ACTIVEnet Recreation Management Software – Request for Decision 

 

RECOMMENDATION: That the Mayor and Clerk are authorized to enter into an agreement with ACTIVE 
Network, of Dallas, TX, on behalf of the Town of St. Stephen, for the implementation and subscription of 
ACTIVEnet Recreation Management Software Services for the agreed proposed pricing of $35,727 plus 
tax which includes proposed implementation fees of $23,734 and annual subscription costs of $7,950. 

 

COMMENTS: Townsuite is currently used at the GCC for all the scheduling software, this was 
established in May 2021 after the agreement for the former scheduling software (Max Galaxy) was ended 
because of increased operational costs. Since the Townsuite recreation software has been introduced, 
both the Corporate Service and Community Services department staff have found the software incredibly 
unreliable and not user friendly. The customer support that we have received has been incredibly 
disappointing and, as a result of this and the acknowledgement from Townsuite that their product has not 
met the needs of the Town, we do not wish to continue with this software for our recreation and 
scheduling requirements.  

 

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
EY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED: Functionality, user friendly software & customer. satisfaction 

RELEVANT POLICY: n/a 
STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: n / a  
DESIRED OUTCOME(S): A  s u i t a b l e  p r o d u c t   

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  

1. That Council approves the Recommendation for Resolution for the acquisition of ACTIVENet 
Recreation Management Software Services. 
2. That Council consider other options for these services are considered. 
3. That Council reject the recommendation and we continue to use our existing software and services. 

PREFERRED STRATEGY: E va l u a t e  t h e  s c h e d u l i n g  s o f t w a r e  b a s e d  o n  s t a f f  a n d  u s e r  
s a t i s f a c t i o n .  F u n c t i o n a l i t y  h a s  t o  b e  o f  a  g o o d  e n o u g h  s t a n d a r d  t h a t  w e  c a n  
o p e r a t e  s u c c e s s f u l l y ,  t h i s  h a s  b e e n  d i f f i c u l t  w i t h  t h e  c u r r e n t  s ys t e m .  

IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL: Improved service 
ORGANIZATIONAL: Increased functionality 
FINANCIAL: Similar annual  fees to what we have paid in previous years  
FOLLOW UP ACTION: Monthly updates at Council meetings  
COMMUNICATION: Greater communication amongst staff 

 
OTHER COMMENTS:  
 

 

Page 85 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUBJECT: R e g i o n a l  F i r e  D i s p a t c h  C o n t r a c t  
 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council authorizes Mayor and Clerk to execute the necessary 
documents to transition to Regional Fire Dispatch through Saint John Public Safety 
Answering Point.  

 
COMMENTS:  

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
KEY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED:  

 Council(s) have been made aware over the past several years that due to federal regulations 

St. Stephen Fire Department dispatching services would be forced to discontinue. 

 Gradually, over the last 15-18 months we have seen our clients make the transition to 

Regional Fire Dispatch (RFD) the Saint John Public Safety Answering Point (SJPSAP) which is 

operated by the City of Saint John Police Department. 

 With only ourselves and St. George Fire Department (SGFD) currently utilizing our 

dispatching service, the time has come for SSFD to begin the transition. SGFD will be making 

the transition in the next 6-8 weeks. 

 Entering a contract with SJPSAP will initiate the installation of the required TMR equipment 

and associated training, which will require approximately 6-8 weeks. 

 Estimated time of transition completion would be April 1, 2022. 

 The 2022 Protective Services budget reflects the costs associated with this transition. 

 
 

RELEVANT POLICY:  RFD Contract 

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE:  

DESIRED OUTCOME(S): T r a n s i t i o n  t o  R F D  t h r o u g h  S J P S A P  

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  
1. Approve the recommendation. 
2. Reject the recommendation. 
3. ___________________________________ 
 

PREFERRED STRATEGY:  

IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL:  

 
ORGANIZATIONAL:  

 

FINANCIAL:  
 

FOLLOW UP ACTION:  

 
COMMUNICATION:  

 

Page 86 of 101



 

 

Page 87 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUBJECT: 1 9  C h u r c h  S t  Z o n i n g  B yl a w  N o n - c o m p l i a n c e  
 

RECOMMENDATION: Council approves staff to act, up to and including court proceedings to 
bring 19 Church Street into compliance with Zoning Bylaw Z-2. 

 
COMMENTS:  

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
KEY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED:  

 Jennifer MacDonald permitted a recreational travel trailer to be placed on her property at 19 

Church Street on or about the last week of October 2021. 

 Bylaw Enforcement Officer and Fire Chief spoke with the resident of the trailer, Mr. Logan on 

November 2nd. Mr. Logan was given a copy of the sections of the Zoning Bylaw and a verbal 

warning of the non-compliance (Zoning Bylaw Z-2 Section 5.1.1 R-1 Permitted Uses). 

 On November 8th, an attempt was made to hand deliver a notice to comply to property owner 

Jennifer MacDonald, which failed. 

 On November 17th a registered letter was prepared and sent to Jennifer MacDonald. 

 On January 4th, a notice to comply was affixed to the door of 19 Church Street, which was 

subsequently removed, presumably by the property owner. 

 January 17th, the registered letter sent on November 17th, was returned to sender, 

undeliverable. 

 Jennifer MacDonald of 19 Church Street remains in violation of section 5.1.1 of Bylaw Z-2 Zoning 

(see attachment). 

 
 

RELEVANT POLICY: Z-2 Zoning Bylaw 

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE:  

DESIRED OUTCOME(S):  

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  
1. Approve the recommendation. 
2. Reject the recommendation. 
3. ___________________________________ 
 

PREFERRED STRATEGY:  
IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL:  

 
ORGANIZATIONAL:  

 

FINANCIAL:  
 

FOLLOW UP ACTION:  

 

Page 88 of 101



Submitted by: ____________________  Endorsed by: ____________________ 
 
 Reviewed by: _____________________    

 
 

 

Page 89 of 101



Page 90 of 101



Page 91 of 101



Page 92 of 101



Page 93 of 101



 

REQUEST for DECISION 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Submitted by: Kev Sumner   Endorsed by:  
 
 Reviewed by: Jeff Renaud, CAO   

 
 

 

SUBJECT: B u i l t  H e r i t a g e  P r o g r a m  G r a n t  T O S S - C 1 B i  
 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approves the application for the GNB Built Heritage 
Program Grant for 6 King Street.   

 
COMMENTS:  

RECOMMENDATION Report/Document: Attached Available Nil 

 
KEY ISSUE(S)ICONCEPTS DEFINED:  

 

RELEVANT POLICY: n/a 

STRATEGIC RELEVANCE: T h i s  p r o j e c t  w i l l  h e l p  b u i l d  c o m m u n i t y 

p r i d e  a n d  d e v e l o p  t h e  C 1 B i  p r o j e c t .  

DESIRED OUTCOME(S): T o  p r o v i d e  C 1 B i  w i t h  s u p p o r t  i n  t h e  f o r m  

o f  t h e  g r a n t  a p p l i c a t i o n  a n d  a n  e n d o r s e m e n t  f r o m  C o u n c i l .  

 

RESPONSE OPTIONS:  
1. approve the recommendation:  That Council approves the funding application for the building at 6 King St.  
2. reject the recommendation:  That we do not apply for this grant 
3. consider other alternatives:  That other grant options are considered. 
 

PREFERRED STRATEGY:  

IMPLICATIONS OF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
GENERAL: I f  s u c c e s s f u l  t h i s  g r a n t  w i l l  a s s i s t  t h e  T o w n  
a n d  C 1 B i  w i t h  r e t a i n i n g  t h e  h i s t o r i c a l  a s p e c t s  o f  
t h e  c o u r t  b u i l d i n g .  

 
ORGANIZATIONAL: This application will help build the relationship with the Town and C1Bi  

 

FINANCIAL: This wil l  not impact the Town’s budget  
 

FOLLOW UP ACTION: C1Bi will work with Town Staff reporting on this grant if successful.  

 
COMMUNICATION:  

 
OTHER COMMENTS:  
 

 

Page 94 of 101



 
 
 

Built Heritage Program 
 

         Project #________ 
Incomplete form will be returned      (for office use only) 

    
 
Section 1 (To be completed by all applicants) 
 
1)  Legal Registered Name of Organization  2) Contact Person 
        
        

        
Mailing Address 
 
 
 
 
Municipality/Community    Title of Contact Person 
 
 
 
 
Province        Postal Code    Telephone Number 
 
 
       
       Fax Number 
Web Site Address 
 
        
       Cell or alternate number 
 
 
Major Activity of the Organization 
 
       E-mail 
 
 
 

 
 

Town of St. Stephen Kev Sumner

c/o Garcelon Civic Ctr, 22 Budd Ave

St. Stephen

NB E3L 1E9

https://town.ststephen.nb.ca

Municipal Government

Director of Community Services

506 466 7700

506 467 3020

506 467 7707

kev.sumner!@chocolatetown.ca

Page 95 of 101



Section 2 (To be completed by all applicants) 

Particulars of the Project 

1. Project Title________________________________________

2. Location of Project__________________________________

3. Are you applying for; (check appropriate box)

 Component A, Professional Design Services (complete sections 3, 5 and 6) 

   Component B, Capital (complete sections 4, 5 and 6) 

4. Detailed Project Description (attach all relevant documents)

Canadian Basketball Experience Centre (CBEC)

 6 King St., St. Stephen, NB

✔

The Town of St, Stephen recently bought the building at 6 King Street in St. Stephen, NB. 
This is the location of the oldest basketball court in the World. Please find supporting 
documentation for this claim in attachment #1. 
The Town of St. Stephen intends to lease the building to Canada 1st Basketball Inc. (C1Bi) as 
part of an overall project to establish the Canadian Basketball Experience Centre (CEBC). 
The lease agreement will define the terms and conditions under which the project will be 
developed as it relates to the property. 
A preliminary business description for this project as prepared by C1Bi is provided in 
attachment #2.
The project involves:
1. Refurbishment of the court building at 6 King St. This work must be done carefully to 
preserve the historically significant and character defining elements, which includes the 
oldest basketball court in the world, and
2. The construction of a new building adjacent at 10 King St.

Proof of the Town of St. Stephen's ownership of the court building at 6 King St. is included in 
attachment #3. 

Prior to undertaking any work, it is necessary to identify, protect and preserve all heritage 
features associated with the historic building and court. This includes:
   a) Cataloguing the historically significant character defining elements of the court and 
related elements to be preserved, needing restoration and/or refurbishment. 
   b) Inspecting the features, structures and components to determine their condition.
   c) Specifying the methods, materials and processes to protect the historical features 
during the subsequent renovation/construction/rehabilitation phases. 
   d) Identifying what historic features will require rehabilitation and/or repair.
   e) Specifying what methods, materials, and processes are required to achieve rehabilitation

In addition, the CBEC will be operated as a museum and experiential centre once structural 
and refinishing/renovation work is completed. To this end, it is anticipated that visitors will 
walk through the court as part of exploring the history of the game. To this end the work will 
need to specify the best methods to assure that court floor (and other historical aspects) is 
protected from wear and tear.

Heritage Standing are experienced and uniquely qualified for this work. Their proposal is 
provided in a seperate attachment . Please note that Heritage Standing are very familiar with 
the building housing the court since they conducted a building condition assessment of 6 
King St. in 2019.

Page 96 of 101



Section 3    Project Budget for Component A of the Program 
(To be completed by Component A applicants) 

 
 

Professional Design Service  
(list consultants below) 

Projected 
Costs/Fees $ 

 
 

 

  

  

Total Professional Design Service Cost  

 
 

Sources of Funds Projected $ 

Public Sector (specify) 

Federal 
 

Provincial Built 
Heritage Program 

(up to 75%, to a maximum 
of $5,000) 

 

Other Provincial 
Funding 

 

Municipal 

 

Private Sector  

Applicant  

Other  

Total Funds  

 
 

Estimated Start Date  

Estimated Completion Date  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Heritage Standing Inc. $6,800

$6,800

$5,000

$1,800

$6,800

February, 2022

March, 2022

Page 97 of 101



Section 4   Project Budget for Component B of the Program  
(to be completed by Component B applicants) 

 
 
 

Project Costs Projected Costs $ 

 

Professional Services  

Acquisition  

Demolition, 
Excavation 

 

 
 

Heritage 
Conservation 

Component Costs 

Machinery/Equipment  

Materials  

Labour  

Other (specify)  

Other Project 
Costs 

Machinery/Equipment  

Materials  

Labour  

Other Costs (specify)  

Total Project Costs  

 
 
 

Revenues/Sources of Funds Projected $ 

Public Sector (specify) 

Federal 
 

Built Heritage 
Program 

(up to 50%, to a maximum 
of $30,000) 

 

Other Provincial 
Funding 

 

Municipal  

Private Sector  

Applicant  

Other  

Total Revenues/funds  

 
 
 
 

Estimated Start Date  

Estimated Completion Date  

Page 98 of 101



Section 5   (To be completed by all applicants) 
Please provide the following: 

• For both Components A and B: 
o Business plan, organizational objectives and, if applicable, a projected program 

and/or description of the re-use proposal for the building or site. 
o Board resolution supporting the proposed project and application to this 

program. 
o Proof of ownership or long-term lease arrangement. 

• For Component B: 
o Rehabilitation plan with professional design, specifications and cost estimates. 
o Indication that all federal, provincial and municipal environmental, fire and 

safety standards will be met. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Section 6   Affirmation 
I AFFIRM THAT the information in this application is accurate and complete and that the 
project proposal, including plans and budgets, is fairly presented.  I agree that once funding 
is provided, any change to the project proposal will require prior approval of the Heritage and 
Archaeological Services Branch.  I also agree to submit a final report, and where required, 
financial accounting for evaluation of the activities funded by the Department of Tourism, 
Heritage and Culture. 
 
Instructions 

• The project must not commence before the 
applicant receives written notification of approval 
by the Department of Tourism, Heritage and 
Culture. 

• The applicant shall allow representatives of the 
provincial government to enter at all reasonable 
times into the work area. 

Send all applications to: 
Heritage and Archaeological 

Services Branch 
Department of Tourism, Heritage 

and Culture  
P.O. Box 6000 

Fredericton, NB E3B 5H1 
 
 
 

I certify that the information contained in this application is correct and I 
accept to follow the instructions. 

 
 
 
 
        
Name of Applicant (Please print)   Signature (Applicant) 
 
 
 
 
            
Title       Date 
 
 
 

Kev Sumner

Director of Community Services January 20, 2022

Page 99 of 101



Town of St. Stephen 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

  Report:  CAO 02-22   

 
To:     Mayor and Council 

From:     Jeff Renaud, Chief Administrative Officer 

Resource Staff:   Tim Tozer, Treasurer 

Date of Meeting: January 26, 2022 

Subject:  Community Grants Fund 

 

 

 

Recommendation:  That Council approves the awarding of the following Community Grants: 

Boys & Girls Club    $5,000 

Charlotte County Museum (insurance)  $2,800 

Chocolate Festival    $1,500 

St. John Regional Hospital Foundation  $3,000 

*Charlotte County Hospital Foundation  $3,000 

Santa’s Helpers     $   500 

Sophia’s Recovery Centre   $5,000 

 

 

TOTAL                 $31,500 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND:   

Within the General Operating budget there is an approved allotment for the purposes of supporting 

groups which provide valued services to our community, identified as the Community Grants Fund.   For 

2022, this amount was set at $50,000.  

  2022 Community Grants Fund Budget  $50,000 

LESS:   

  (Previous Commitments)  

Boys & Girls Club        5,000 

  Charlotte County Museum (insurance)      2,800 

 

 Available for 2021 Discretionary Application               $42,200 

 

Page 100 of 101



 

2022 Community Grants Fund Requests Received to date 

Chocolate Festival    $  1,500 

St. John Regional Hospital Foundation  $10,000 

  Chocolate Festival    $  1,500 

  Santa’s Helpers     $     500 

  Sophia Recovery Centre    $  7,500 

  Rose Commons Project    $15,000 

  Total Received      $36,000 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW: 

 

Following Council’s adoption of the 2022 General Operating Budget, the Senior Management Team 

reviewed the information noted above with the intent of making a recommendation to Council on the 

potential expenditure of Community Grants funding.   The results of this review are that the Senior 

Management Team recommends the following grants be approved: 

 

  Boys & Girls Club    $5,000 

Charlotte County Museum (insurance)  $2,800 

Chocolate Festival    $1,500 

  St. John Regional Hospital Foundation  $3,000 

  *Charlotte County Hospital Foundation  $3,000 

  Sophia Recovery Centre    $5,000 

   

 

  TOTAL                 $20,300 

 

*no request received at time of report 

 

COMMUNITY GRANT FUNDS REMAINING IF RECOMMENDATION APPROVED: $29,700 

 

  

Option 1—Approve the Distribution of Funds as Recommended:  Council may determine that 

administration’s recommendations on the expenditure of the Community Grant funds are appropriate 

and authorize the release of these funds.  Approval of this option would allow for $29,700 to be 

distributed at other times through the year.   

Option 2—Approve the recommendation with amendments:  Council may determine that the amounts 

recommended by administration should be amended by increasing or decreasing amounts, removing or 

adding recipients. 

Option 3—Elect not to Approve funding:  Council may be unprepared to release funding at this time.  

Should this option be selected, administration would request that Council provide a timeline for re-

presentation of this report and/or any additional information requested to be provided at that time.   

Page 101 of 101


	Agenda
	G.1 C1BI - Update to Town Council January 26, 2022.pdf
	H.1 Post-Meeting Minutes - CM_Dec29_2021 - English.pdf
	J.1 Heritage Preservation Letter signed.pdf
	L.1.a.a CAO 01-22.pdf
	L.1.b.a Town Planning Report - Jan 2022 - PD-001-2022.pdf
	L.1.b.a St Stephen Year End 2021.pdf
	L.1.c.a Aquatics Report for January 2022 - CMS-002-2022.pdf
	L.1.c.b Information Report to Council EDC 01-22 - CMS-003-2022.pdf
	L.1.c.c CMS 22-01 - CMS-008-2022.pdf
	L.1.c.d Facilities Maintenance Report 2022-1 - CMS-005-2022.pdf
	L.1.d.a January Report - PS-010-2022.pdf
	L.1.e.a Treasurer Informational Report - CS-001-2022.pdf
	L.1.e.a CS-001-2022 Cheque Register.pdf
	L.1.e.a CS-001-2022 Statements.pdf
	L.1.f.a FSSJan2022 - ED-001-2022.pdf
	L.1.f.a Future St. Stephen 2021 Annual Report.pdf
	L.1.g PW 16-21 for Dec. 2021 - PW-001-2022.pdf
	L.1.g PW 16-21  PUBLIC WORKS-Dec 2021.pdf
	L.1.g Progress Update (December 06, 2021).pdf
	L.2.a Royal Bank of Canada Borrowing Authority - CS-002-2022.pdf
	L.2.b Tourism St. Stephen Initiative - Request for Decision - CMS-006-2022.pdf
	L.2.b Committee Terms-of-Reference - Tourism St. Stephen.pdf
	L.2.c Scotiabank Borrowing Authority - CS-003-2022.pdf
	L.2.d Dangerous or Unsightly Premises - PS-007-2022.pdf
	L.2.e ACTIVEnet Recreation Management Software - Request for Decision - CMS-007-2022.pdf
	L.2.f Regional Fire Dispatch Contract - PS-008-2022.pdf
	L.2.g 19 Church Street Zoning Compliance - PS-009-2022.pdf
	L.2.g 19 Church St Zoning Violation.pdf
	L.2.g 19 Church St Zoning Violation 2.pdf
	L.2.h Built Heritage Program Grant TOSS-C1Bi - CMS-009-2022.pdf
	L.2.h CSS-FOL-SNB-22-0040E-C1Bi220120.pdf
	L.2.i CAO 02-22.pdf

